DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

National Institutes of Health

National Institute on Drug Abuse

Overdose Prevention Centers

Lawrence A. Tabak, D.D.S, Ph.D.

Principal Deputy Director, NIH

Table of Contents

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	2
INTRODUCTION	3
BACKGROUND	3
EFFECTS OF OPC ON MORTALITY	5
EFFECTS OF OPC ON OTHER HEALTH OUTCOMES	6
EFFECTS OF OPC ON ADDICTION SERVICE AND TREATMENT REFERRALS	7
EFFECTS OF OPC ON DRUG USE BEHAVIORS	8
EFFECTS OF OPC ON CRIME	9
SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACT AND RETURN ON INVESTMENT	9
LIMITATIONS	11
CONCLUSIONS	11
REFERENCES	11

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In its report on the fiscal year (FY) 2021 appropriations bill for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS), the House Committee on Appropriations stated the following:

"The Committee recognizes that Overdose Prevention Centers, or Supervised Consumption Sites, are part of a larger effort of harm reduction interventions intended to reduce the risk of drug overdose death and reduce the spread of infectious disease. The Committee directs [the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA)], in consultation with the [Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC's)] Division of Injury Prevention and Control, to provide a report to the Committee and post publicly, no later than 180 days after the enactment of this Act providing an updated literature review and evaluation of the potential public health impact of Overdose Prevention Sites in the U.S." (House Report 116-450, Pages 120-121)

The following report has been prepared by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) in collaboration with the CDC, HHS, in response to this request.

INTRODUCTION

According to the CDC, over 70,000 Americans died from drug overdoses in 2019.¹ Provisional 2020 data show further worsening drug overdose numbers² and one of the sharpest increases in annual drug deaths since 2016, when increased availability of synthetic opioids like fentanyl drove up the number of fatalities associated with the opioid overdose epidemic. This negative trend has been a significant contributor to decreases in overall life expectancy as observed in the United States³ and British Columbia.⁴

The majority of the over 800,000 drug overdose deaths in the United States over the past two decades involved opioids, including prescription opioid analgesics, heroin, and fentanyl. Currently, deaths involving fentanyl, cocaine, and methamphetamine are continuing to rise. According to the annual National Survey on Drug Use and Health administered by the Substance Use and Mental Health Services Agency (SAMHSA), the estimated number of people who injected drugs (PWID) in 2019 were 2.7, 2.4, and 2.1 million for heroin, cocaine, and methamphetamine use, respectively. In addition to overdose, injection drug use (IDU) is also associated with increased prevalence of human immunodeficiency (HIV) and hepatitis C (HCV) viral infections: Approximately 1 in 10 HIV⁶ and 8 in 10 HCV⁷ diagnoses are estimated to occur among PWID. This high rate of transmission translates into prevalence of between 6.8-10.7 percent⁸ for HIV and 65-70 percent^{7,9} for HCV among PWID. In the midst of a drug overdose epidemic that continues to cause alarming levels of morbidity and mortality, there is a crucial need for expanded and/or innovative prevention solutions.

Harm reduction encompasses a set of practical strategies aimed at reducing the morbidity and mortality associated with drug use. Prominent examples of harm reduction programs include provision of sterile syringes for injection of illicit drugs through syringe services programs (SSPs)¹⁰ and distribution of naloxone, a lifesaving opioid overdose-reversal medication, to lay persons, law enforcement, and other first responders.¹¹ These strategies have been shown to contribute to reduced viral transmission risk¹² and decreased opioid overdose mortality,¹³ respectively, but wider uptake of these practices is critical.

Overdose prevention centers (OPCs) are a harm reduction strategy that has operated around the world for decades, though there are no OPCs operating legally in the United States. OPCs are professionally supervised facilities where persons who use drugs can consume them under controlled conditions. Their primary goals are to reduce the acute risks of disease transmitted through needle sharing, prevent drug-related overdose deaths, and connect persons who use drugs with addiction treatment and other health and social services. If effective, OPCs could be a useful addition to the range of targeted approaches already available for slowing down and eventually reversing the devastating impact of the opioid crisis.¹⁴

BACKGROUND

OPCs, often referred to as supervised consumption sites (SCS), safer consumption spaces, supervised injection facilities (SIFs), safer injection facilities, drug consumption rooms, supervised drug consumption facilities, or safer drug use services, are facilities intended to reduce the health and environmental risks often associated with public injection, like discarded syringes and related litter, ¹⁵ incarceration, ¹⁶ the spread of infectious disease, ¹⁷ and fatal drug overdose. These facilities fit into a continuum of harm reduction services and are designed to

provide a space for people to consume pre-obtained drugs in controlled settings, under the supervision of trained staff, and with access to sterile supplies for smoking, insufflating, or injecting drugs.¹⁸ Participants can also receive health care, counseling, and referrals to health and social services, including drug treatment.

OPCs operate in facilities that adhere to one of three different models of operation: integrated, specialized, or mobile. The vast majority of European OPCs follow the integrated model, ¹⁹ which allow supervised drug consumption and provide other survival-oriented services, like provision of food, showers, and clothing; prevention materials; and counseling and other forms of drug treatment. Some facilities, including all facilities in British Columbia, also offer fentanyl test strips to identify fentanyl in a drug sample and encourage more cautious consumption. This practice is gaining in popularity, but more research is needed to determine its impact on drug use behaviors and overdose outcomes. ²⁰ Specialized OPCs offer a narrower range of services directly related to supervised consumption, which include the provision of sterile injection and other drug use materials; advice on health and safer drug use; intervention in case of emergencies; and a space where those using drugs can remain under observation for a period of time after drug consumption. Mobile facilities (currently in operation only in Barcelona, Berlin, and Lisbon)²¹ provide a geographically flexible deployment of services, but typically cater to a smaller number of clients than fixed premises. ²²

Historically, the first OPC was opened in Berne, Switzerland in June 1986.¹⁹ Today, there are approximately 76 official facilities operating in 7 countries that report to the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA): 31 in the Netherlands, 24 in Germany, 5 in Denmark, 13 in Spain, 2 in Norway, 2 in France, 1 in Luxembourg, 12 in Switzerland, and 1 in Portugal.¹⁹ The city of Sumy in Ukraine has recently implemented an OPC,²³ which adds to the more than 100 OPCs with a long record of operations around the world.²⁴ Other nations like Scotland and Ireland do not yet have operational OPCs, though they have proposed or passed legislation to allow for them. Incidentally, a significant number of officially sanctioned OPCs also permit for non-injection routes of consumption; most of these are located in Germany.¹⁸

In 2001, Australia opened an official OPC on a trial basis. The Sydney Medically Supervised Injecting Centre (MSIC) is a Christian, non-government organization that follows the integrated model of service. In October 2010, legislation was passed to allow the MSIC to operate on an ongoing, rather than trial, basis.^{25,26} Four years later, in response to an HIV outbreak in British Columbia, Vancouver became the first North American city to open an OPC, called Insite.²⁷ As a fully integrated facility, Insite is more akin to a full medical institution, staffed by a team of at least 10 professionals and including a detoxification center on site. Insite has treatment beds and the staff can connect users to addiction services, counseling, and other resources. Insite is supported by the Vancouver health authority, and its operation beyond the pilot phase was also codified in 2010; it now operates under a permanent constitutional exemption²⁸ to Canada's Controlled Drugs and Substances Act.²⁹ Since the opening of Insite, Canada has approved the establishment of an additional 36 OPCs, bringing the total number of regional sites to 19 in Ontario, 8 in British Columbia, 5 in Alberta, 4 in Quebec, and 1 in Saskatchewan.³⁰ In addition to these fixed OPCs, and in an effort to reduce the rising numbers of overdoses, Vancouver has opened approximately six new, so called "pop-up" sites for supervised consumption since 2016. Similar to their European mobile counterparts.³¹ these sites do not offer the same medical

expertise or recovery services that full OPCs do. Though not officially sanctioned in Canada, they have been embraced by the city as an additional tool in the battle against opioids. They are easy to set up and can be located (and relocated) wherever they are needed the most.³² Pop-up injection sites offer a viable alternative to fixed locations but challenges posed by limited space and weather interruptions can undermine the continuity and quality of care they provide.³³ The concept is gaining traction, as similar facilities have been set up in Montreal, Toronto, and other cities. There are now around 25 pop-up sites across Canada.³²

There are no OPCs operating legally in the United States. The proposed operation of the site Safehouse in Philadelphia was determined to be legal in federal district court in October 2019, but this ruling was overturned in federal appellate court in January 2021.³⁴ It should be mentioned that there is at least one OPC operating unsanctioned within the United States³⁵ and that at least 13 OPC sites, including New York City, Philadelphia, Boston, Seattle, Denver, Vermont, Delaware, and San Francisco, have been proposed and waiting approval.³⁶ Finally, in July 2021, the governor of Rhode Island signed into law a proposal to allow for the operation of OPCs in that state; the Director of the Rhode Island Department of Health is expected to work with advisors to draft regulations governing this process by March 2022.³⁷

EFFECTS OF OPC ON MORTALITY

Published evidence and unpublished reports from stakeholders suggest that no client of an OPC has ever experienced death from an overdose within a facility. 35,38,39 For example, an evaluation of the impact of the Medically Supervised Injecting Centre (MSIC) in Kings Cross, Sydney, commissioned by the New South Wales (NSW) Government in 2010 found no overdose deaths at the facility, which had managed 3,426 overdose events since opening. 40 That report concluded it would be "reasonable to assume that a proportion of these overdose-related events managed at the MSIC would have led to overdose injury or overdose death had they occurred in another location (public place or a private dwelling) that did not have accessible medical supervision and intervention." Similarly, millions of injections have been supervised across Europe with no reports of overdose fatalities inside the facilities. 41 Data collected between March 2004 and February 2008 at Insite in North America showed that the 766,486 injections at the facility resulted in 1,004 non-fatal overdoses, but no fatal overdoses. Models estimated that during this time period there could have been over 50 deaths had those non-fatal overdoses occurred outside the facility. 42

The scientific assessment of harm reduction approaches like this are complicated by real-world realities of drug use: people who use drugs, and particularly PWID, are at high risk of death from overdose, and prevention of fatal events inside an OPC is not necessarily evidence of a reduction in overall mortality among OPC clients, let alone among other people who use drugs in the area. Reductions in overdose mortality at the broader population level have been reported in Europe, but it should be noted that most such reports are derived from the facilities themselves and don't appear to be the result of rigorous or comparative studies. For example, the International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms reports on its website that, in Spain, overdose deaths were cut almost in half within a decade of the opening of an OPC, from 1,833 in 1991 to 773 by 2008.⁴³

A more rigorous example of how to assess the effect of OPCs on mortality rates comes from a population-based study at Vancouver's Insite that measured the impact of its establishment on overdose mortality inside and outside of the actual facility. According to a geospatial analysis of death records, operations in the Insite facility were associated with a 35 percent population-level decrease in the fatal overdose rate within a 500 meter radius perimeter around the Insite facility, compared to a 9 percent decrease in the rest of the city. Using these figures as a baseline, U.S. investigators generated models to project the number of fatal opioid overdoses in other locations and claimed that an optimally placed OPC in New York City could prevent 19-37 opioid overdose fatalities per year, representing a 6-12 percent decrease in opioid overdose mortality for that neighborhood.

In contrast to the above positive outcomes, other studies have found minimal or no impact of OPCs on overdose measures. Still, it should be mentioned that the evidence to date shows no increase in drug use or crime in the areas surrounding OPCs. A recent cross-sectional analysis of non-fatal, self-reported overdose in the past 6 months (between November 2018 and March 2020) by a cohort of 701 PWID in Toronto, Canada found no statistically significant association between OPC use frequency and recent non-fatal overdose. Heanwhile, Drug Free Australia (a drug policy advocacy group focused on law enforcement, effective prevention, and demand reduction initiatives) reanalyzed the Australian study and calculated that the MSIC's 55,000 opioid injections per year yielded only 4 lives saved across its entire 9 years of operation, at a total cost in excess of \$23 million, not including setup costs. The study of the cost in excess of \$23 million, not including setup costs.

Conflicting results such as these are not surprising when considering the complex and dynamic nature of opioid addiction. Rather, they are likely to reflect the challenge of interpreting sets of data that are not derived from randomized controlled trials. This is understandable, given the practical challenges of randomizing OPC participation or OPC sites, which forces greater reliance on natural experiments.⁴⁸ Such sites are also not currently sanctioned to operate in the United States, which further inhibits research around their potential benefits.

Moving beyond the focus of drug overdose deaths, the results of two prospective cohort studies of PWID in Vancouver showed that frequent OPC use was inversely associated with risk of all-cause mortality.⁴⁹ These findings are important because of the disproportionately high burden of premature mortality among this cohort, and support efforts to enhance access to OPC as a strategy to improve overall health and reduce mortality among PWID.⁴⁹

EFFECTS OF OPC ON OTHER HEALTH OUTCOMES

While the effects of OPCs on hospitalization rates are not yet clear.⁵⁰ best evidence from cohort and modeling studies suggests that OPCs are associated not only with lower overdose mortality (approximately 88 fewer overdose deaths per 100,000 person-years, according to the most positive estimates),⁴⁴ but also 67 percent fewer ambulance calls for treating overdoses, and a decrease in HIV infections.⁵⁰

Many of the harms associated with IDU stem from scarcity of sterile injection equipment^{51,52} and the fear that PWID have of legal repercussions as a result of their drug use.⁵³ Anxiety about social rejection and arrest deter use of health and preventative services and force PWID into hidden locations that are poorly suited for hygienic drug use.^{54,55} Yet, there is sharp

disagreement among simulation studies as to how many HIV infections Insite prevents by supervising drug consumption, as opposed to its SSP-like function of providing sterile equipment for use outside of the facility. Estimates range widely from 2-5 infections prevented per year^{56,57} to up to 22-35 per year.^{58,59} The difference between these two estimates is salient. Assuming the discounted total cost of medical care per new HIV infection could be in the order of \$200,000, an approximately 10-fold difference in the number of prevented HIV infections could mean the difference between Insite yielding a positive or negative return on investment when assessed in terms of HIV transmission outcomes.⁶⁰

The results of the ongoing Cohort for Evaluating Structural and Individual Factors Among Drug-Users (COSINUS) study are expected soon and could help address this question. COSINUS is a prospective multi-site cohort study that started in June 2016 and followed 680 PWID enrollees in four different French cities (Bordeaux, Marseilles, Paris, and Strasbourg) for up to a year. Face-to-face structured interviews were administered by trained staff to all eligible participants at baseline and in three follow-up visits at 3, 6, and 12 months. The study is assessing the impact of individual and structural factors, including OPC attendance and exposure to other harm reduction services, on behaviors that increase HIV/HCV transmission risk and other outcomes. COSINUS is part of the Preventing Injecting by Modifying Existing Responses (PRIMER) study, a multi-country mixed methods study funded in part by the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA) and designed to identify the preventive potential of existing interventions and inform broader efforts to prevent injecting and related harms.

In addition, it is important to point out the potential impact of different and changing drug supplies on the health impacts associated with OPC implementation. For example, a study published in 2019 using Insite-generated data found that the risk and severity of overdoses at the facility have increased since the emergence of illicit fentanyl.⁶³ In this analysis, overdose events went from 2.7/1000 visits to 13/1000 visits during the study period, meaning that clients were 4.8 times more likely to overdose in the most recent study period relative to the baseline period. This result is consistent with another recent study among clients of the same facility, which found that about 80 percent of the drugs checked (which accounts for only about 1 percent of participating clients) contained fentanyl.⁶⁴ Since fentanyl is increasingly being found combined with other opioid and non-opioid illicit drugs as a contributor to overdose deaths,⁶⁵ drug checking at OPCs might constitute a key intervention that could contribute to preventing overdoses in the context of the current overdose emergency. Moreover, providing fentanyl test strips for drug checking is a service that appears to have high acceptability among users.^{66,67}

EFFECTS OF OPC ON ADDICTION SERVICE AND TREATMENT REFERRALS

The establishment of OPCs has triggered concerns that the program may facilitate ongoing drug use and delay entry into addiction treatment. However, early Insite utilization data indicates consistent increases in the number of PWID seeking medical help to cease using drugs. ^{15,68-70} For example, as part of a Scientific Evaluation of Supervised Injecting (SEOSI), ⁷¹ Health Canada analyzed questionnaire data derived from a cohort of persons who either used one of four OPCs at least weekly, or had any contact with the facility's addictions counselor; both factors were independently associated with more rapid entry into a detoxification program. ⁷² In a prospective study, the same group examined the rate of detoxification service use among OPC participants in

the year before versus the year after the OPC had opened, and found a statistically significant increase in the uptake of detoxification services the year after the OPC opened.⁷³

A similar study followed a random sample of Vancouver's OPCs and found that both regular OPC use at baseline or having contact with an OPC addiction counselor were associated with cessation of injecting for a minimum of 6 months.⁷⁴ Another study based on behavioral surveillance of Sydney's MSIC client cohort, between May 2001 and October 2002, found frequent MSIC attendance was one of the strongest factors associated with drug treatment referral uptake (defined as presentation for assessment at the relevant agency).⁷⁵

Between March 10, 2004, and April 30, 2005, the Insite group conducted an evaluation based on a comprehensive on-site database that was designed to track attendance and daily activities within the facility. This evaluation involved a large prospective cohort of Insite participants and a comparison cohort of PWID who were not using the OPC and found convincing evidence that the Insite OPC serves as a referral center for many community resources:⁷⁶ more than 800 referrals were made per quarter, and about 40 percent of referrals were for various forms of addiction treatment (Table 1).

Table 1. Referrals made from the OPC stratified by quarter⁷⁶

Referral programs	2004			2005	
	Second quarter	Third quarter	Fourth quarter	First quarter	
1. Addiction counselling	121 (28%)	126 (33%)	251 (45%)	314 (39%)	
2. Community clinics	97 (22%)	53 (14%)	77 (14%)	108 (14%)	
3. Hospital emergency	62 (14%)	42 (11%)	60 (11%)	68 (9%)	
4. Detoxification bed	56 (13%)	58 (15%)	52 (10%)	71 (9%)	
5. Community services	41 (10%)	36 (9%)	32 (6%)	99 (13%)	
6. Housing	27 (6%)	36 (10%)	44 (8%)	101 (12%)	
7. Methadone	13 (3%)	16 (4%)	24 (4%)	31 (4%)	
8. Recovery house	17 (4%)	12 (3%)	14 (3%)	9 (1%)	
	- (/	(- · - /	()	- (-/-/	
Total	434	379	554	804	

EFFECTS OF OPC ON DRUG USE BEHAVIORS

There have been persistent concerns raised that OPCs could increase illicit drug use or alter drug use-related behaviors in ways that could worsen morbidity and mortality outcomes among PWID. However, such concerns do not appear to be supported by the available evidence. Indeed, the establishment of OPCs has not significantly altered community drug use patterns, including rates of injection initiation, relapse, or cessation. ^{69,77}

In terms of drug use-related behavioral change, one study found that Vancouver PWID who reported that some, most, or all of their injections took place at the Insite OPC were 70 percent less likely than other PWID to have borrowed or lent a syringe in the past 6 months. Several studies have found that, while Insite is utilized by people who frequently inject drugs, its operation has not been associated with an increase in the rates of initiation into injection drug use. After the opening of Insite, researchers were able to document significant reductions in public injection drug use, publicly discarded syringes, and syringe sharing rates among Insite clients. An important limitation in this type of study is that the cross-sectional study design prevents the inference of causal relationships.

Should OPCs prove to be facilitators of positive behavioral change, there is one study that may shed some light about possible mechanisms for improving health outcomes: a nation-wide investigation measured the impact of five Danish facilities on the health and well-being of its clients through extensive interviews of both clients and staff members. That study found that OPC clients experienced a sense of social acceptance while inside the OPC, where staff members conveyed a welcoming, non-judgmental attitude. Beyond the primary goal of preventing overdoses, members of the staff took pride in their ability to build bridges for their clients by guiding them towards drug treatment programs and services in the social and the health sectors.⁷⁹

EFFECTS OF OPC ON CRIME

The opening of Insite was not associated with any increase in drug dealing or drug related crimes in the area where the facility is located, ¹⁵ a result that is consistent with the lack of any measurable impact on rates of crimes such as burglary, theft, and robbery 6 years after the opening of the OPC in Sidney, Australia. ⁸⁰

It is, however, extremely difficult to disentangle crime trends from other changes that occur over time. For example, a 2013 study concluded that trends in property crime incidents and illicit drug crime incidents were the same in the immediate vicinity of the MSIC OPC and the rest of Sydney after the opening of the MSIC.⁸¹ However, the analysis did not preclude the possibility that differential police activity around the MSIC may have impacted these findings.

A more recent analysis of crime trends in Vancouver assessed weekly counts of reported violent and property crimes in four police districts (one of which housed the OPC) between the first week in January 2002 and the last week in December 2004. Since the city's OPC had opened in September 2003, this design allowed for a before and after assessment. This analysis of city-wide crime data found no evidence that the OPC had any impact on crime. Moreover, a more granular analysis pointed to a significant decrease in crimes in the district where the supervised injection facility is located.⁸²

SOCIOECONOMIC IMPACT AND RETURN ON INVESTMENT

People who inject drugs are parents, children, friends, family, and neighbors. The social costs of their exclusion from society are significant, and measures taken to reduce the disease burden of addiction and draw PWID back into society have far wider benefits. For example, there is a large body of research evaluating SSP, including return on investment studies. ^{83,84} According to the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS), spending money on harm reduction programs for PWID not only saves lives, but it is also a good investment. ⁸⁵ In

addition, there is evidence to suggest that packages of combined harm reduction approaches, particularly with respect to HIV-related outcomes, are highly likely to be more effective and cost-efficient than partial approaches.⁸⁶

More recently, rigorous studies have begun to provide preliminary evidence for the cost effectiveness of investments in OPCs as well. For example, Vancouver's OPC has been associated with improved health and cost savings, even using conservative estimates of efficacy. Focusing on the sole effect of decreased needle sharing to the exclusion of impacts from overdose reversal, treatment linkage and other impacts of the OPC, one study found the facility to be associated with a net savings of almost \$14 million and 920 life-years gained over 10 years. ⁸⁷ Conservative calculations performed in 2012 estimated that, on average, Vancouver's Insite prevents 35 new cases of HIV and almost 3 deaths each year. This provides a societal benefit in excess of \$6 million per year after considering the program's costs, translating into an average benefit-cost ratio of 5.12:1. Importantly, in areas surrounding existing OPCs, there has been no evidence of increased community drug use, initiation of injection drug use, or drug-related crime. ⁵⁸

A 2017 systematic review concluded there is consistent evidence to demonstrate that OPCs are cost-effective, based on their ability to mitigate overdose-related harms and unsafe drug use behaviors, as well as facilitate uptake of addiction treatment and other health services among persons who use drugs, without increasing drug-related crime.³⁸ However, this conclusion is tempered by the co-location of all included studies in Vancouver and methodological questions around the results reviewed.³⁸

The question of how or whether the Insite model could be applied successfully or cost-effectively in U.S. cities remains unanswered, but researchers have attempted to ascertain the potential cost effectiveness of this approach in the United States. According to one model based on the Vancouver program Insite, it was estimated that it would cost \$2.6 million annually to operate an OPC in San Francisco. The researchers calculated that each dollar spent on this center would generate \$2.33 in savings, for total annual net savings of \$3.5 million for a single 13-booth OPC. These results suggest that an OPC in San Francisco would not only be a cost-effective intervention but also a significant boost to the public health system. Since community reluctance to accept an OPC location is another important factor to consider, it is important to mention the consistent observation that initial objections to OPCs from local stakeholders tend to disappear following their implementation, a phenomenon that was observed in multiple locations.

As additional pilot programs are deployed, it may be desirable to test harm reduction interventions that are more flexible or adaptable to different circumstances and differing local conditions, so that services evolve in response to changes in drug market conditions over time and/or place. Worth mentioning in this context are the mobile injection sites (especially fitted-out vans with injection booths) that have been tested and run by non-governmental organizations on behalf of municipal authorities in Barcelona and Berlin, and more recent versions in Lisbonp²¹ and Canada,³² initially as a more palatable option for the adjacent communities relative to fixed supervised consumption sites.⁹⁰ The mobile/pop-up OPC model is relatively new, so no reliable outcome data are yet available, but a couple of published studies

have identified key questions about mobile relative to fixed consumption sites that warrant further research and evaluation, including limited client throughput, higher cost, impact of weather conditions, and their dependence on a supportive local context.^{90,91}

LIMITATIONS

After more than 30 years of operation, OPC research has generated scores of studies, evaluations, and even some systematic reviews that assess their impact at both the individual and population levels. However, the extant literature presents methodological limitations which make it difficult to draw definitive conclusions. The majority of studies come from a few sites, with close to 80 percent of the peer reviewed literature based on the Insite facility in Vancouver or the MSIC in Sydney. The evidence base regarding the overall effects of OPC is limited not only in location but also in quality: no study involved a randomized control trial and the interpretation of quasi-experimental or simulation studies warrants caution. In addition, while there appears to be little basis for concern about adverse effects, the evidence for OPCs being the direct cause of favorable outcomes is minimal. Finally, earlier findings may be less applicable today due to rapid changes in the quality and potency of drugs which may very well increase the demand for supervision, putting additional strains on OPC capacity and quality of service, and potentially altering the cost-effectiveness calculations.

CONCLUSIONS

A 2014 meta-analysis of 75 studies concluded that OPCs have largely fulfilled their initial objectives;³⁹ the implementation of new OPCs in places with high rates of IDU and its associated harms appears to be supported by the existing evidence.³⁹ Methodological caveats notwithstanding, drug use supervision and overdose management have the potential to provide health benefits to at-risk PWID as well as economic advantages to the larger community. The preponderance of the evidence suggests these sites are able to provide sterile equipment, overdose reversal, and linkage to medical care for addiction, in the virtual absence of significant direct risks like increases in drug use, drug sales, or crime. OPCs may represent a novel way of addressing some of the many challenges presented by the overdose crisis, and they could contribute to reduced morbidity and mortality, and improved public health.

Based on the above considerations, there is a clear need for more rigorous research and evaluation of OPCs. Given the amount and quality of the existing data, it may be prudent to consider the American Medical Association's recommendation of developing and implementing OPC pilot programs in the United States designed, monitored, and evaluated to generate locality-relevant data to inform policymakers on the feasibility and effectiveness of OPCs in reducing harms and health care costs related to IDU.⁹⁴

REFERENCES

- 1. Ahmad FB, Rossen LM, Sutton P. *Provisional Drug Overdose Death Counts* Atlanta, GA: National Center for Health Statistics; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention:2020.
- 2. Overdose Deaths Accelerating During COVID-19: Expanded Prevention Efforts Needed [press release]. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention2020.

- 3. Gold MS. The Role of Alcohol, Drugs, and Deaths of Despair in the U.S.'s Falling Life Expectancy. *Missouri medicine*. 2020;117(2):99-101.
- 4. Ye X, Sutherland J, Henry B, Tyndall M, Kendall PRW. At-a-glance Impact of drug overdose-related deaths on life expectancy at birth in British Columbia. *Health promotion and chronic disease prevention in Canada: research, policy and practice.* 2018;38(6):248-251.
- 5. SAMHSA. Results from the 2019 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: Detailed Tables. Rockville, Maryland: Center for Behavioral Health Statistics and Quality. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration;2020.
- 6. CDC. *Injection Drug Use and HIV Risk*. Atlanta, GA2019.
- 7. Martin NK, Vickerman P, Dore GJ, Hickman M. The hepatitis C virus epidemics in key populations (including people who inject drugs, prisoners and MSM): the use of direct-acting antivirals as treatment for prevention. *Current opinion in HIV and AIDS*. 2015;10(5):374-380.
- 8. Larney S, Leung J, Grebely J, et al. Global systematic review and ecological analysis of HIV in people who inject drugs: National population sizes and factors associated with HIV prevalence. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2020;77:102656.
- 9. Zibbell JE, Asher AK, Patel RC, et al. Increases in Acute Hepatitis C Virus Infection Related to a Growing Opioid Epidemic and Associated Injection Drug Use, United States, 2004 to 2014. *American journal of public health*. 2018;108(2):175-181.
- 10. Nassau T, Al-Tayyib A, Robinson WT, Shinefeld J, Brady KA. The Impact of Syringe Services Program Policy on Risk Behaviors Among Persons Who Inject Drugs in 3 US Cities, 2005-2015. *Public health reports*. 2020;135(1 suppl):138S-148S.
- 11. Chao YS, Loshak H. *Administration of Naloxone in a Home or Community Setting: A Review of the Clinical Effectiveness, Cost-effectiveness, and Guidelines.* Ottawa (ON): Ottawa (ON): Canadian Agency for Drugs and Technologies in Health;2019.
- 12. van Santen DK, Coutinho RA, van den Hoek A, van Brussel G, Buster M, Prins M. Lessons learned from the Amsterdam Cohort Studies among people who use drugs: a historical perspective. *Harm reduction journal*. 2021;18(1):2.
- 13. Smart R, Pardo B, Davis CS. Systematic review of the emerging literature on the effectiveness of naloxone access laws in the United States. *Addiction*. 2021;116(1):6-17.
- 14. Friedman SR, Krawczyk N, Perlman DC, et al. The Opioid/Overdose Crisis as a Dialectics of Pain, Despair, and One-Sided Struggle. *Frontiers in public health*. 2020;8:540423.
- 15. Wood E, Tyndall MW, Montaner JS, Kerr T. Summary of findings from the evaluation of a pilot medically supervised safer injecting facility. *CMAJ*: *Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*. 2006;175(11):1399-1404.
- 16. McLaughlin M, Amaya A, Klevens M, O'Cleirigh C, Batchelder A. A Review of Factors Associated with Age of First Injection. *Journal of psychoactive drugs*. 2020;52(5):412-420.
- 17. Ickowicz S, Wood E, Dong H, et al. Association between public injecting and drug-related harm among HIV-positive people who use injection drugs in a Canadian setting: A longitudinal analysis. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2017;180:33-38.
- 18. Speed KA, Gehring ND, Launier K, O'Brien D, Campbell S, Hyshka E. To what extent do supervised drug consumption services incorporate non-injection routes of

- administration? A systematic scoping review documenting existing facilities. *Harm reduction journal*. 2020;17(1):72.
- 19. EMCDDA. Perspective on drugs: Drug consumption rooms: an overview of provision and evidence. 2018;
 https://www.emcdda.europa.eu/system/files/publications/2734/POD_Drug%20consumption%20rooms.pdf.
- 20. McGowan CR, Harris M, Platt L, Hope V, Rhodes T. Fentanyl self-testing outside supervised injection settings to prevent opioid overdose: Do we know enough to promote it? *The International journal on drug policy.* 2018;58:31-36.
- 21. IDPC. Inside Portugal's first mobile safe consumption site. 2019; https://idpc.net/alerts/2019/07/inside-portugal-s-first-mobile-safe-consumption-site.
- 22. Schäffer D, Stöver H, Schatz E, Weichert L. *Drug consumption rooms in Europe Models, best practice and challenges*. Amsterdam, The Netherlands: European Harm Reduction Network;2014.
- 23. Gavrylova I. *Harm reduction cabinet in Sumy: evaluation of one year of work by local authorities.* Ukraine: Alliance for Public Health;2019.
- 24. INDCR. International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms. 2017; http://www.drugconsumptionroom-international.org/index.php
- 25. Thomas M. Sydney's Medically Supervised Injecting Centre. *FlagPost* 2010; https://www.aph.gov.au/About_Parliament/Parliamentary_Departments/Parliamentary_Library/FlagPost/2010/September/Sydneys_Medically_Supervised_Injecting_Centre.
- 26. NSW. DRUG MISUSE AND TRAFFICKING ACT 1985 As at 23 September 2020 Act 226 of 1985: PART 2A MEDICALLY SUPERVISED INJECTING CENTRES. 2020.
- 27. VCH. Insite Supervised Consumption Site. 2020; http://www.vch.ca/locations-services/result?res id=964.
- 28. SCOC. Canada (Attorney General) v. PHS Community Services Society. *Supreme Court Judgments* 2011; https://scc-csc.lexum.com/scc-csc/scc-csc/en/item/7960/index.do, 2021.
- 29. GOC. Controlled Drugs and Substances Act (S.C. 1996, c. 19). 1996; https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-38.8/, 2021.
- 30. GOC. Supervised consumption sites and servives: Sites currently offering services. 2021; https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/supervised-consumption-sites/status-application.html#wb-auto-4.
- 31. Mema SC, Frosst G, Bridgeman J, et al. Mobile supervised consumption services in Rural British Columbia: lessons learned. *Harm reduction journal*. 2019;16(1):4.
- 32. Quinn M. Safe drug injection sites are coming to america. Canada has had them for years. *Governing, the Future of States and Localities*2019.
- 33. Glauser W. New hope for unsanctioned safe injection site. *CMAJ*: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2018;190(3):E90-E91.
- 34. Bibas S. Opinon of the Court, RE: SAFEHOUSE, a Pennsylvania nonprofit corporation v.vU.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE; vWILLIAM P. BARR, in his official capacity In: Justice Do, ed. Vol Case: 20-1422 UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE THIRD CIRCUIT; 2020:10-62.

- 35. Kral AH, Lambdin BH, Wenger LD, Davidson PJ. Evaluation of an Unsanctioned Safe Consumption Site in the United States. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2020;383(6):589-590.
- 36. Garcia BA. San Francisco, Safe Injection Services Task Force: Final Report. San Francisco, CA: San Francisco Department of Publich Health;2017.
- 37. Mulvaney K. RI Gov. McKee signs legislation allowing safe-injection sites into law. *The Providence Journal* 2021.
- 38. Kennedy MC, Karamouzian M, Kerr T. Public Health and Public Order Outcomes Associated with Supervised Drug Consumption Facilities: a Systematic Review. *Current HIV/AIDS reports*. 2017;14(5):161-183.
- 39. Potier C, Laprevote V, Dubois-Arber F, Cottencin O, Rolland B. Supervised injection services: what has been demonstrated? A systematic literature review. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2014;145:48-68.
- 40. KPMG. NSW Health: Further evaluation of the Medically Supervised Injecting Centre during its extended Trial period (2007-2011). Final Report Switzerland: KPMG International Cooperative;2010.
- 41. EMCDDA. Perspective on Drugs. Preventing overdose deaths in Europe. 2018.
- 42. Milloy MJ, Kerr T, Tyndall M, Montaner J, Wood E. Estimated drug overdose deaths averted by North America's first medically-supervised safer injection facility. *PloS one*. 2008;3(10):e3351.
- 43. INDCR. International Network of Drug Consumption Rooms: Spain overview. 2015.
- 44. Marshall BD, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Montaner JS, Kerr T. Reduction in overdose mortality after the opening of North America's first medically supervised safer injecting facility: a retrospective population-based study. *Lancet*. 2011;377(9775):1429-1437.
- 45. Behrends CN, Paone D, Nolan ML, et al. Estimated impact of supervised injection facilities on overdose fatalities and healthcare costs in New York City. *Journal of substance abuse treatment.* 2019;106:79-88.
- 46. Scheim AI, Bouck Z, Tookey P, et al. Supervised consumption service use and recent non-fatal overdose among people who inject drugs in Toronto, Canada. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2020;87:102993.
- 47. DFA. Drug Free Australia: Analysis of KPMG Evaluation of the Sidney Medically Supervised INjecting Centre. 2010.
- 48. Christie T, Wood E, Schechter M, O'Shaughnessy M. A comparison of the new Federal Guidelines regulating supervised injection site research in Canada and the TriCouncil Policy Statement on Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Human Subjects. *International Journal of Drug Policy.* 2004;15(1):66-73.
- 49. Kennedy MC, Hayashi K, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Kerr T. Supervised injection facility use and all-cause mortality among people who inject drugs in Vancouver, Canada: A cohort study. *PLoS medicine*. 2019;16(11):e1002964.
- 50. Ng J, Sutherland C, Kolber MR. Does evidence support supervised injection sites? *Canadian family physician Medecin de famille canadien*. 2017;63(11):866.
- 51. Walker S, Seear K, Higgs P, Stoove M, Wilson M. "A spray bottle and a lollipop stick": An examination of policy prohibiting sterile injecting equipment in prison and effects on young men with injecting drug use histories. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2020;80:102532.

- 52. Syvertsen JL, Pollini RA. Syringe access and health harms: Characterizing "landscapes of antagonism" in California's Central Valley. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2020;75:102594.
- 53. Friedman J, Syvertsen JL, Bourgois P, Bui A, Beletsky L, Pollini R. Intersectional structural vulnerability to abusive policing among people who inject drugs: A mixed methods assessment in california's central valley. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2020;87:102981.
- 54. Dovey K, Fitzgerald J, Choi Y. Safety becomes danger: dilemmas of drug-use in public space. *Health & place*. 2001;7(4):319-331.
- 55. Beletsky L, Davis CS, Anderson E, Burris S. The law (and politics) of safe injection facilities in the United States. *American journal of public health.* 2008;98(2):231-237.
- 56. Pinkerton SD. Is Vancouver Canada's supervised injection facility cost-saving? *Addiction*. 2010;105(8):1429-1436.
- 57. Pinkerton SD. How many HIV infections are prevented by Vancouver Canada's supervised injection facility? *The International journal on drug policy*. 2011;22(3):179-183.
- 58. Andresen MA, Boyd N. A cost-benefit and cost-effectiveness analysis of Vancouver's supervised injection facility. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2010;21(1):70-76.
- 59. Andresen MA, Jozaghi E. The point of diminishing returns: an examination of expanding Vancouver's Insite. *Urban Studies*. 2012;49(16):3531-3544.
- 60. Pardo B, Caulkins J, Kilmer B. Assessing the Evidence on Supervised Drug Consumption Sites. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Health Care and RAND Social and Economic Well-Being;2018.
- 61. Auriacombe M, Roux P, Briand Madrid L, et al. Impact of drug consumption rooms on risk practices and access to care in people who inject drugs in France: the COSINUS prospective cohort study protocol. *BMJ open.* 2019;9(2):e023683.
- 62. Werb D, Garfein R, Kerr T, et al. A socio-structural approach to preventing injection drug use initiation: rationale for the PRIMER study. *Harm reduction journal*. 2016;13(1):25.
- 63. Notta D, Black B, Chu T, Joe R, Lysyshyn M. Changing risk and presentation of overdose associated with consumption of street drugs at a supervised injection site in Vancouver, Canada. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2019;196:46-50.
- 64. Karamouzian M, Dohoo C, Forsting S, McNeil R, Kerr T, Lysyshyn M. Evaluation of a fentanyl drug checking service for clients of a supervised injection facility, Vancouver, Canada. *Harm reduction journal*. 2018;15(1):46.
- 65. Baldwin N, Gray R, Goel A, Wood E, Buxton JA, Rieb LM. Fentanyl and heroin contained in seized illicit drugs and overdose-related deaths in British Columbia, Canada: An observational analysis. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2018;185:322-327.
- 66. Krieger MS, Goedel WC, Buxton JA, et al. Use of rapid fentanyl test strips among young adults who use drugs. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2018;61:52-58.
- 67. Krieger MS, Yedinak JL, Buxton JA, et al. High willingness to use rapid fentanyl test strips among young adults who use drugs. *Harm reduction journal*. 2018;15(1):7.
- 68. Kerr T, Wood E, Small D, Palepu A, Tyndall MW. Potential use of safer injecting facilities among injection drug users in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside. *CMAJ*: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2003;169(8):759-763.

- 69. Kerr T, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, Lai C, Montaner JS, Wood E. Circumstances of first injection among illicit drug users accessing a medically supervised safer injection facility. *American journal of public health.* 2007;97(7):1228-1230.
- 70. Wood E, Kerr T, Spittal PM, et al. The potential public health and community impacts of safer injecting facilities: evidence from a cohort of injection drug users. *Journal of acquired immune deficiency syndromes*. 2003;32(1):2-8.
- 71. Wood E, Kerr T, Lloyd-Smith E, et al. Methodology for evaluating Insite: Canada's first medically supervised safer injection facility for injection drug users. *Harm reduction journal*. 2004;1(1):9.
- 72. Wood E, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, et al. Attendance at supervised injecting facilities and use of detoxification services. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2006;354(23):2512-2514.
- 73. Wood E, Tyndall MW, Zhang R, Montaner JS, Kerr T. Rate of detoxification service use and its impact among a cohort of supervised injecting facility users. *Addiction*. 2007;102(6):916-919.
- 74. DeBeck K, Kerr T, Bird L, et al. Injection drug use cessation and use of North America's first medically supervised safer injecting facility. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2011;113(2-3):172-176.
- 75. Kimber J, Mattick RP, Kaldor J, van Beek I, Gilmour S, Rance JA. Process and predictors of drug treatment referral and referral uptake at the Sydney Medically Supervised Injecting Centre. *Drug and alcohol review.* 2008;27(6):602-612.
- 76. Tyndall MW, Kerr T, Zhang R, King E, Montaner JG, Wood E. Attendance, drug use patterns, and referrals made from North America's first supervised injection facility. *Drug and alcohol dependence*. 2006;83(3):193-198.
- 77. Kerr T, Stoltz JA, Tyndall M, et al. Impact of a medically supervised safer injection facility on community drug use patterns: a before and after study. *Bmj*. 2006;332(7535):220-222.
- 78. Kerr T, Tyndall M, Li K, Montaner J, Wood E. Safer injection facility use and syringe sharing in injection drug users. *Lancet*. 2005;366(9482):316-318.
- 79. Kappel N, Toth E, Tegner J, Lauridsen S. A qualitative study of how Danish drug consumption rooms influence health and well-being among people who use drugs. *Harm reduction journal*. 2016;13(1):20.
- 80. Freeman K, Jones CG, Weatherburn DJ, Rutter S, Spooner CJ, Donnelly N. The impact of the Sydney Medically Supervised Injecting Centre (MSIC) on crime. *Drug and alcohol review*. 2005;24(2):173-184.
- 81. Donnelly N, Mahoney M. *Trends in property and illicit drug crime around the medically supervised injecting centre in Kings Cross: 2012 update.* . 2013.
- 82. Myer AJ, Belisle L. Highs and Lows: An Interrupted Time-Series Evaluation of the Impact of North America's Only Supervised Injection Facility on Crime. *Journal of Drug Issues*. 2018;48(1):36-49.
- 83. Wodak A, Cooney A. Effectiveness of sterile needle and syringe programmes. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2005;16:31-44.
- 84. Nguyen TQ, Weir BW, Des Jarlais DC, Pinkerton SD, Holtgrave DR. Syringe exchange in the United States: a national level economic evaluation of hypothetical increases in investment. *AIDS and behavior*. 2014;18(11):2144-2155.
- 85. UNAIDS. *Investing in harm reduction—sound economic sense.* 2020.

- 86. Wilson DP, Donald B, Shattock AJ, Wilson D, Fraser-Hurt N. The cost-effectiveness of harm reduction. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2015;26 Suppl 1:S5-11.
- 87. Bayoumi AM, Zaric GS. The cost-effectiveness of Vancouver's supervised injection facility. *CMAJ*: Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne. 2008;179(11):1143-1151.
- 88. Irwin A, Jozaghi E, Bluthenthal R, Kral A. A Cost-Benefit Analysis of a Potential Supervised Injection Facility in San Francisco, California, USA. *Journal of Drug Issues*. 2017;47(2):164-184.
- 89. Tempalski B. Placing the dynamics of syringe exchange programs in the United States. *Health & place*. 2007;13(2):417-431.
- 90. Dietze P, Winter R, Pedrana A, Leicht A, Majo IRX, Brugal MT. Mobile safe injecting facilities in Barcelona and Berlin. *The International journal on drug policy*. 2012;23(4):257-260.
- 91. Jackson LA, Strike C. Harm Reduction 'On the Move': What Is the Role of Environmental Influences? *Journal of health care for the poor and underserved*. 2020;31(2):519-529.
- 92. Kilmer K, Taylor J, Caulkins J, et al. *Considering Heroin-Assisted Treatment and Supervised Drug Consumption Sites in the United States.* 2018.
- 93. Caulkins JP, Pardo B, Kilmer B. Supervised consumption sites: a nuanced assessment of the causal evidence. *Addiction*. 2019;114(12):2109-2115.
- 94. AMA. *Pilot Implementation of Supervised Injection Facilities H-95.925*. American Medical Association;2017.